# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 7/10/2025 3:30 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/18/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_\_ Court of Appeals, Division III, No. 402126

Case #: 1044674

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF CHELAN COUNTY,

Respondent,

v.

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 2 OF GRANT COUNTY,

Petitioner.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

### GORDON TILDEN THOMAS & CORDELL LLP

Mark Wilner, WSBA #31550 John D. Cadagan, WSBA #47996 Katherine S. Wan, WSBA #58647 421 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 670 Spokane, WA 99201 Tel. 206.467.6477

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND INTRODUCTION

Grant County Public Utility District No. 2 ("Grant") seeks review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division Three, in *Public Utility District No. 1 of Chelan County v. Public Utility District No. 2 of Grant County*, No. 40212-6-III.

Grant seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4).

This case is about whether energy contracts drafted 50-70 years ago must be construed as the drafters understood energy at the time, or should be construed as the parties understand energy currently—where hydropower has a greater economic value than "undifferentiated" power. When these contracts were executed, no one considered that power from different sources would yield different economic value. Power companies understood power as simply "power"—regardless of its source. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals held that these contracts, requiring the delivery of a certain "amount" of "Encroachment Power," must now be interpreted as requiring one public utility district to somehow isolate and deliver pure

hydropower—*i.e.*, power derived from only a hydro source—because hydropower is now worth more in today's green energy economy.

Factually, the Court of Appeals ducked the undisputed reality that electrons cannot be "color-coded" based on their source. Its ruling renders the parties' historical power agreement impossible to fulfill, both as-written and under the laws of physics.

Legally, the Court of Appeals' holding circumvents (if not outright disregards) this Court's jurisprudence from *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 115 P.3d 262 (2005), *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990), and *Int'l Marine Underwriters v. ABCD Marine, LLC*, 179 Wn.2d 274, 282, 313 P.3d 395 (2013). RAP 13.4(b)(1). Moreover, the holding has already had a profound impact on how legacy contracts in Washington's energy sector are interpreted, with the potential to impact old contracts across numerous other long-standing industries. RAP 13.4(b)(4). For

these reasons, and consistent with RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4), Grant respectfully requests that the Court accept review.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Grant seeks review of the opinion issued by the Court of Appeals, Division Three, in *Chelan PUD v. Grant PUD*, No. 40212-6-III,

https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/402126\_unp.pdf ("Slip op." or "Opinion"). *See* Appendix A. Non-party Public Utility District No. 1 of Pend Oreille County ("Pend Oreille") has filed a motion to publish the Opinion. *See* Appendix B.

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals err in subjugating the intent of the parties at the time they drafted the 1955 and 1974

Agreements, in favor of current economic factors, to hold that the 1955 and 1974 Agreements unambiguously require Grant to send pure hydropower to Chelan as a matter of law? Yes.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Grant is not seeking RAP 13.4(b) review of the portion of the Opinion limiting *Campeau v. Yakima HMA, LLC*, 3 Wn.3d 339, 551 P.3d 1037 (2024) and affirming dismissal of Grant's unjust

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The Parties and the Encroachment Agreements

Grant and Public Utility District No. 1 of Chelan County ("Chelan") are two public utility districts located in the Mid-Columbia River basin. 1CP 10, 39. In 1933, Chelan constructed a hydroelectric dam, the Rock Island Project. 1CP 11, 40. In 1955, Grant proposed two hydroelectric dams, called the "Priest Rapids Hydroelectric Development" project, downstream from Rock Island. *Id.* One of those dams, the Wanapum Dam, would "encroach" on Rock Island's tailwater, reducing the amount of energy produced by Rock Island. *Id.* 

#### 1. The 1955 Agreement

Before Grant could start construction of the Priest Rapids
Project, the Federal Power Commission ("FPC") needed to
approve Grant's application and issue a project license. 1CP
11, 40. To avoid a dispute, Chelan and Grant entered into the

enrichment counterclaim. Should the Court accept review, the Court has discretion to broaden its review to include Division Three's application of *Campeau*. RAP 13.7(b).

1955 Encroachment Agreement ("1955 Agreement") on August 8, 1955. 7CP 1222-25.

Paragraph 1 of the 1955 Agreement stated:

Grant agrees to fully compensate
Puget and Chelan and each of them or
their successors in interest in the Rock
Island Project for all loss, damage and
expense which Puget and Chelan or
either of them or their successors in
interest in the Rock Island Project
shall sustain or incur by reason of the
construction or operation of said
Priest Rapids Hydroelectric
Development or any part thereof.

7CP 1223 (¶ 1).<sup>2</sup> Paragraph 2 of the 1955 Agreement explained

how Grant would "fully compensate" Chelan for "all loss":

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Grant agrees regarding loss of power and energy, to compensate ... Chelan for all loss in the generation of power and energy at the Rock Island Project which shall result from the backwater of the Wanapum Project, by delivering to Puget and Chelan the amount of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Chelan purchased Puget Sound Power & Light's ("Puget") interest in the Rock Island Project on January 6, 1956. 1CP 60-61 (¶ 4).

power and energy so lost at the Rock Island Project....

*Id.* ( $\P$  2) (emphasis added). Grant was to deliver the power:

Simultaneously with the occurrences of the losses at Rock Island Project to the end that *the amount of power and energy* available to [Chelan] from the Rock Island Project ... shall be at all times equal to the power and energy which would have been available to [Chelan] at the Rock Island Project in the absence of said Priest Rapids Hydroelectric Development.

7CP 1223-24 (¶ 2) (emphasis added).

By its terms, the 1955 Agreement did not specify hydropower, or any other power source, as the power required to be delivered to Chelan. 7CP 1222-25, 1171-72 (73:19–74:1). This is consistent with the energy industry at the time.

The parties understood at the time that "power" was synonymous with what would later be called "undifferentiated system power," *i.e.*, power on the company's system regardless of source. *E.g.*, 9CP 1414-15 (¶ 12) (expert testimony); *also* VRP 27:17-20 (superior court stating, "I mean, it seems fairly

obvious to [the] Court that in 1955, they had no idea that people would say that coal burning power was just not as good as hydropower--"); VRP 110:22-24 (similar).

#### 2. The 1974 Agreement

In 1973, Chelan applied to the FPC to add a second powerhouse to the Rock Island Project. 1CP 14 (¶ 27), 42 (¶ 27). This triggered a dispute over the interpretation of the 1955 Agreement, which was settled by the parties' 1974 "Agreement Relating to Wanapum Development Encroachment on Rock Island Project" ("1974 Agreement"). 1CP 14-15, 42; 8CP 1311-20 (1974 Agreement). The 1974 Agreement was a settlement agreement, resolving all disputes and serving as the operative agreement going forward. 8CP 1312 (Recital 9).

Grant's compliance with the 1974 Agreement was "accepted by Chelan as full and satisfactory performance of Grant's obligations under the 1955 Agreement":

The parties intend and agree that the covenants to be performed by Grant under this agreement and performance thereof are accepted by Chelan as full

and satisfactory performance of Grant's obligations under the 1955 Agreement. Chelan accepts Grant's covenants herein to deliver Encroachment Power and performance of the covenants herein in lieu of any claim on the part of Chelan for any loss or damage to Chelan ... arising under the 1955 Agreement, whether such loss or damage relates to loss of power and energy or otherwise without limitation ... Chelan agrees that execution and performance hereof is such compliance.

8CP 1317 (§ X).

The Court of Appeals declined to discuss the significance of Paragraph 10 in the 1974 Agreement, let alone apply it. The Court of Appeals similarly failed to apply the defined terms central to this dispute. The 1974 Agreement specifically defines the term "Encroachment Power":

Encroachment Power shall mean the electrical capacity and energy due to Chelan from Grant under the provisions of this agreement.

*Id.* 1313 (§ II(d)). Critical to the merits here, Chelan concedes that the 1974 Agreement does not specify the source of

encroachment power that Grant is obligated to deliver. 7CP 1182-87 (120:20–121:1, 121:10–125:9).

- B. For Decades, Grant Performed Consistent with the Parties' Mutual Understanding at the Time that Hydropower Was No More Valuable Than "Undifferentiated" Power.
  - 1. Hydropower did not have independent economic value over other types of power when the Agreements were drafted.

Prior to the late 1990s, energy markets in the western United States traded only one thing: "undifferentiated" power.

9CP 1414 (¶ 12). "Undifferentiated" power is power that is not tracked to a specific generating source or fuel type. 7CP 1201, 1204 (187:19-25, 195:5-10); 7CP 1247-48 (190:19–191:7); 9CP 1411-12 (¶ 7).

The concept of power being defined by its generating source was not developed until the early 2000s, when the modifiers "differentiated" and "undifferentiated" started being used. 7CP 1164-65 (21:4–22:12). Today, power generators trade the renewable attribute of "green" energy through an accounting credit—a certificate called a renewable energy

credit ("REC"). 7CP 1201 (187:15-25). As Chelan concedes, prior to the early 2000s, utilities had no reason to track the source of power on their system. *Id*.

It also is undisputed that there was no specific or unique market for hydropower at the time the Agreements were signed. 7CP 1186, 1201-02 (23:10-13, 187:15–188:18). At the time, the source or type of power did not matter—hydropower was not recognized as having any distinct value over other types of power. 9CP 1413-1414 (¶ 12).

# 2. Grant has performed under the 1974 Agreement, by delivering undifferentiated power.

Since the execution of the 1974 Agreement, Grant has performed its obligations by sending undifferentiated power in the required amounts to Chelan. 9CP 1533 (¶ 3), 1539 (¶ 20). Because Grant owns two dams on the Columbia River, some of the power delivered by Grant was likely hydropower. 9CP 1539 (¶ 20). But Grant also purchased power from non-hydro sources. *Id.* Thus, when Grant sent encroachment power to

Chelan, it sent the mix of hydropower and non-hydro power from Grant's system—*i.e.*, "undifferentiated" power. *Id*.

This was (and remains) the *only* way Grant could deliver encroachment power to Chelan. 7CP 1250-51 (200:2-20; 211:8-23). There was (and remains) no "direct line" from Grant's dam to Chelan's dam that somehow bypasses the power grid. *Id*.

# 3. The "Hourly Coordination" system does not change what, or how, power is delivered.

The Court of Appeals accepted Chelan's claims that because encroachment power was later delivered to Chelan via the "Hourly Coordination" system, "the encroachment power was *accounted for* as Rock Island Project generation, even though the physical generation occurred at Wanapum Dam." Slip. op. at 5 (quoting 1CP 17) (emphasis added). This represents a fundamental misunderstanding of the Hourly Coordination system, and conflates an accounting function with the physical delivery of electricity. In confusing accounting methods with physics, the Court of Appeals adopted Chelan's

desired inference that Grant performed under the 1974

Agreement by delivering hydropower. *Id*. This simply is not true—and is contrary to the record.

The Hourly Coordination is "a scheduling convenience" utilized by dam owners on the Mid-Columbia River. 7CP 1244 (102:7-12), 1245-46 (147:20–148:25). It was developed decades after the 1955 Agreement, and is not an isolated agreement between Grant and Chelan. 6CP 1049. It is an accounting mechanism that allows the accounting departments of the participating utilities to have power "deemed" as hydropower. Naturally, because it is scientifically impossible, there is no "color-coding" system for identifying that certain electrons sent by Grant are "hydropower electrons" 7CP 1244 (102:7-12); 1245-46 (147:20–148:25); *also* 7CP 1249-50 (199:24–200:13).<sup>3</sup> Therefore, even though Grant delivered

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The only way to guarantee power came solely from a hydropower source is if there were an isolated transmission line running from the dam to the end purchaser. It is undisputed that Grant does *not* have such an isolated transmission line and instead stores all of its power—generated and purchased—on

encroachment power to Chelan via Hourly Coordination, it did not certify or guarantee that the power was pure hydropower.

Nor could it.

Below, Chelan also sought to side-step physics by arguing that "slice contracts" (also termed "output" contracts) would enable Grant to provide pure hydropower as encroachment power. *E.g.*, Resp.Br. 45, n.8. But slice contracts sell a "right" to a "percentage of" the "output" of a specific project. 4CP 723; 7CP 1245 (147:13–148:25); 10CP 1647 (16:1-15). As such, the "amount" of power allocatable under slice contracts fluctuates with the power generation of the particular source during any given accounting period.

Indeed, the percentages of output sold in these contracts are not even allocated in the Hourly Coordination system. 7CP 1245-246 (147:20–148:9), 1207-208 (203:7–204:3), 1244 (102:7-12); 6CP 1104-05; 10CP 1649 (145:4-25). And, even

its power grid for transmission to purchasers. 7CP 1250-51 (200:2-20; 211:8-23).

under these slice contracts, Grant does not warrant that the purchaser is receiving purely hydro-sourced electrons; rather, the purchaser can show that its energy is obtained through a purchased right to a percentage of a source's output. 10CP 1653-655 (175:4–177:18).

Perhaps even more to the point, "slice" and "output" contracts are entirely different types of contracts than the 1955 and 1974 Agreements at issue in this case. If these contracts are what Chelan and Grant had intended with the 1955 and 1974 Agreements, that is what they would have drafted—they did not.

C. After Decades of Delivering Undifferentiated Power to Chelan, in 2014, Chelan Claimed the 1974 Agreement Required Grant to Deliver Pure Hydropower.

In 2014, Chelan demanded for the first time that Grant attest that the encroachment power it was delivering to Chelan was pure hydropower. 7CP 1237-38 (47:13–48:20), 1242-43 (73:4–74:8). Grant declined because Grant had always delivered undifferentiated system power to Chelan and is

physically incapable of delivering pure hydropower to Chelan. 7CP 1238 (48:21-25), 1208-09 (204:4–205:13). Chelan filed suit. 1CP 9-23.

#### D. The Superior Court's Summary Judgment Decision.

The parties cross-moved for summary judgment. 6CP 1091-126, 1129-154. At the conclusion of the hearing, the superior court agreed that Grant and Chelan did not contemplate the source of the encroachment power at the time any of the agreements were drafted:

[N]o one contemplated that the one type of power would be more valuable than the other in either of these agreements -- any of these agreements.

VRP 110:22-111:2.

But the superior court decided it was not "fair" to ratepayers today to apply the intent of the parties in 1974:

I think that – one thing that drives me, you guys, I don't see – I don't like the idea the idea that through a – lack of creativity of counsel, didn't think of an argument, didn't think of a situation, *you know, back in 1955 or* 

in 1974, they didn't think of the future – they didn't have a crystal ball. So we're going to let one group of rate payers get a benefit and the other group of rate payers gets a – you know, has to pay. It's just a transfer of money from one household or one entity or one business to another, and that doesn't seem fair.

So that's really at the heart of this decision of mine today.

VRP 115:9-22 (emphasis added). Based on its perceived balance of equities (which neither party had argued)—rather than applying the rules of contract interpretation—the superior court granted Chelan's motion for summary judgment and denied Grant's. 11CP 1804-08, 1810-13.

#### E. The Court of Appeals' Opinion.

The Court of Appeals affirmed on different grounds.

Slip op. at 1. The Court of Appeals held that because "[i]t is undisputed that the value of hydropower is greater than undifferentiated power" the 1955 Agreement unambiguously requires Grant to supply pure hydropower to Chelan as encroachment power as a matter of law. *Id.* at 13. The Court of

Appeals also injected the current distinction between differentiated and undifferentiated power into the 1974 Agreement as if the parties contemplated it at the time:

Grant emphasizes that nothing in the agreement requires encroachment power to be hydropower. Once again, we disagree with Grant. While nothing in the agreement requires encroachment power to be hydropower, nothing in the agreement permits encroachment power to be undifferentiated power.

Slip. op. at 15 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals held that "encroachment power"—despite being a defined term under the 1974 Agreement—meant pure hydropower as matter of law. *Id.* at 15-16.

Pend Oreille—a non-party public utility district with substantial interest in the precedent set by the Court of Appeals' analysis in this case—filed a motion to publish. Appendix B. As Pend Oreille notes, "the Opinion addresses, as a matter of first impression, an important issue that affects many similar contracts within the Pacific Northwest." *Id.* at 4.

Grant respectfully requests review by this Court.

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. The Opinion Conflicts with Washington Law on Contract Interpretation Articulated in *Hearst Commc'ns*, *Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.* 

RAP 13.4(b)(1) provides that a petition for review will be accepted "[i]f the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court." The Opinion conflicts with *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493—it fails to apply Washington's rules of contract interpretation to the 1955 and 1974 Agreements.

1. The Opinion conflicts with *Hearst*'s objective manifestation rule.

This Court clarified how Washington courts interpret contracts in *Hearst*, 20 years ago. There, the Court reconciled the context rule first adopted in *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, and the objective manifestation theory of contracts: "Washington continues follow the objective manifestation theory of contracts. Under this approach, we attempt to determine the parties' intent by focusing on the objective

manifestations of the agreement, rather than on the unexpressed subjective intent of the parties." *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 503. As explained in *Hearst*, a court must apply the objective manifestations of defined terms in a contract. *Id.* at 505.

Here, the objective manifestations of the parties to these Agreements are gleaned from the language used by the parties at the time. In reconciling the two Agreements, the objective manifestation of the 1974 Agreement is, first and foremost, that performance under the 1974 Agreement controls—the 1955 Agreement does not. 8CP 1317 (§ X, quoted *supra*). Yet, the Court of Appeals focused on trying to interpret the 1955 Agreement by applying today's market economics.

As to the 1955 Agreement, the Opinion declined to give effect to the terms provided in Paragraph 2, which specifically explained how Grant was to compensate Chelan for lost energy generation as provided generally in Paragraph 1. Slip op. at 14 (holding Grant's reading "requires [the court] to ignore the

generality of paragraph 1"). Doing so ignored the objective manifestations of the two paragraphs at issue.

Paragraph 1 obligates Grant to compensate Chelan "for all loss, damage and expense" arising from the construction or operation of the Priest Rapids Project. 7CP 1223 (¶ 1). By its terms, "loss, damage and expense" is not limited to just reduced power generation, but also includes other losses, damages, and expenses, such as expenses for installing equipment to measure encroachment losses. 1CP 61; 7CP 1176 (84:12–87:11).

Paragraph 2—without limiting Grant's obligation to pay for "all loss, damage, and expense"—specifies how Grant is to compensate Chelan for "loss of power and energy."

Specifically, "By delivering to [Chelan] the *amount* of power and energy so lost." 7CP 1223 (¶ 2) (emphasis added).

But the Opinion clung to the generality of Paragraph 1 without application of the specificity in Paragraph 2. It elevated the general terms over the specific and ignored the drafters' understanding of what encroachment power was. The

Opinion rendered Paragraph 2 of the 1955 Agreement superfluous. *Cf. Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 506 (applying the definitions as adopted by the parties without addition or omission of terms); *accord Cambridge Townhomes, LLC v. Pac. Star Roofing, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 475, 487, 209 P.3d 863 (2009) ("Courts should not adopt a contract interpretation that renders a term ineffective or meaningless.").

Moreover, the 1974 Agreement defines "Encroachment Power"—the very thing that Grant was obligated to send to "fully compensate" Chelan for "all loss." "Encroachment Power" is "the electrical capacity and energy due to Chelan from Grant under the provisions of this agreement." 8CP 1313 (§ II(d)). The definition undisputedly does not specify a source from which encroachment power must be generated. Thus, the objective manifestation of the contract language is that "Encroachment Power" is not source-specific. *See Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 504 ("We do not interpret what was intended to be written but what was written.").

Further still, the 1974 Agreement provides that Grant's delivery of "Encroachment Power," as it is defined in the 1974 Agreement, is "accepted by Chelan as full and satisfactory performance of Grant's obligations under the 1955 Agreement." 8CP 1317 (§ X). The objective manifestation of this term is unassailable: Grant's delivery of "Encroachment Power," which by its definition is not source-specific, satisfies Grant's obligations to Chelan under the 1955 Agreement.

The Opinion's dismissal of the 1974 Agreement, and of Paragraph 10 in particular, turned *Hearst*'s prescribed analysis on its head. The Opinion stated that, "while nothing in the agreement requires encroachment power to be hydropower, nothing in the agreement permits encroachment power to be undifferentiated power." Slip op. at 15 (emphasis added). The Opinion ignored that, at the time of contracting, it is undisputed that "encroachment power" could not have been anything other than "undifferentiated power."

This is an incredible pivot from *Hearst*. Compare that sentence from the Court of Appeals with this Court's in *Hearst*: "there is nothing in the definition of agency expenses or the loss operations clause that purports to deal with alternative means of calculating losses, e.g., losses caused by a strike as opposed to losses caused by a marketplace unable to sustain two newspapers." *Comparing* Slip op. 15 (quoted *supra*) with 154 Wn.2d at 506. In *Hearst*, the absence of the requested language from the definitions was an "objective manifestation" of the drafting parties' intent not to include them. *Id*.

Thus, under *Hearst*'s objective manifestation theory, because "nothing in the agreement requires encroachment power to be hydropower," Slip op. 15, *that is the objective manifestation of the parties' intent*. *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 504 (quoted *supra*) *and* at 510 ("Even if the parties intended to require that agency remainder be calculated differently ..., they failed to reduce such an intention to writing.... Hearst

essentially asks us to rewrite the JOA by revising the loss operations clause, something we are not at liberty to do.").

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that, by the plain language, "nothing in the agreement requires encroachment power to be hydropower," Slip op. at 15, while simultaneously holding that the Agreement nevertheless "requires Grant to return hydropower for hydropower," Slip op. at 1, is patently inconsistent with the principles of contract interpretation announced 20 years ago in *Hearst*. The Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. The Opinion applies extrinsic evidence about the Parties' understanding of hydropower today, rather than at the time of contracting, contrary to *Hearst*, *Berg*, and *Int'l Marine*.

As this Court explained in *Hearst*, if assistance is needed to determine the meaning of a specific term in a contract,

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