FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
8/8/2025 11:55 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/18/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. ____ Case #: 1044674
Court of Appeals, Division III, No. 402126

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF CHELAN COUNTY,
Respondent,
v.

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 2 OF GRANT COUNTY,
Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

K&L GATES LLP
Benjamin A. Mayer, WSBA
#45700
Kari L. Vander Stoep, WSBA
#35923
925 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2900
Seattle, Washington 98104-1158
Tel: +1 206 623 7580
Fax: +1 206 623 7022

Email: ben.mayer@klgates.com

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

VI. ARGUMENT

Grant invites this Court to "revisit contract interpretation," Pet. for Rev. at 31, for no compelling reason. First, Grant contends that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Washington law on contract interpretation, as articulated by this Court in *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990), *Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 115 P.3d 1037 (2005), and *International Marine Underwriters v. ABCD Marine, LLC*, 179 Wn.2d 274, 313 P.3d 395 (2013). *Id.* at 18–27. Second, Grant asserts this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision involves so-called "legacy contracts" that may affect contract disputes between other parties. *Id.* at 27–30. Grant is wrong on both.

⁷ Grant does not contend the Court of Appeals' opinion is inconsistent with its precedent or involves a significant question of law under the United States or Washington constitutions. *See generally* Pet. for Rev.; *see also* RAP 13.4(b)(2)–(3). Because the burden is on Grant to demonstrate grounds for review, *see In re Williams*, 484 P.3d at 446, the Court should consider both these grounds unsatisfied. In any event, the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with its own precedent, *see* Slip op. at 12, and does not involve a significant question of law under either constitution.

There is no need to expend additional judicial resources on this case. First, the lower courts applied settled principles of Washington law and reached the same result. The Court of Appeals' decision is in line with this Court's precedent, including the opinions cited by Grant. Second, Grant's distinction between "legacy contracts" and other contracts is pure fiction. This Court's precedent applies across the board—to contracts written in 1955, 1974, or 2025. This Court should decline Grant's attempt to recharacterize this dispute as anything other than what it is: A rote contract dispute between two parties.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with This Court's Decisions

The Court of Appeals applied Washington law to reach the correct result: The only reasonable interpretation of the Parties' hydro-specific agreements is that they require Grant to replace Chelan's lost hydropower with hydropower.

1. Washington's objective manifestation theory

Washington follows the "objective manifestation theory of contracts," which requires a court to determine the parties' intent "by focusing on the objective manifestations of the agreement, rather than on the unexpressed subjective intent of the parties." *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 503. "The cardinal rule with which all interpretation begins is that its purpose is to ascertain the intention of the parties." *Berg*, 115 Wn.2d at 663 (citation

omitted); see also Int'l Marine Underwriters, 179 Wn.2d at 282 ("During interpretation, a court's primary goal is to ascertain the parties' intent at the time they executed the contract."). Courts "generally give words in a contract their ordinary, usual, and popular meaning," Hearst, 154 Wn.2d at 504, and "examin[e] the context surrounding an instrument's execution" to determine the parties' intent, id. at 502. To determine intent, a court may consider evidence relating to "(1) the subject matter and objective of the contract, (2) all the circumstances surrounding the making of the contract, (3) the subsequent acts and conduct of the parties, and (4) the reasonableness of respective interpretations urged by the parties." Id. (citing Berg, 115 Wn.2d at 667).

2. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the objective manifestation theory

Applying this Court's settled precedent, Slip op. at 12 ("The touchstone of contract interpretation is the parties' intent. Washington courts follow the objective manifestation theory of contracts, imputing an intention corresponding to the reasonable meaning of the words used." (cleaned up)), the Court of Appeals concluded that the 1955 Agreement "unambiguous[ly]" requires Grant to return hydropower to Chelan because "by returning undifferentiated power, which has a lower market value, Grant is not fully compensating Chelan for its 'loss, damage, and

expense." Slip op. at 12–13. The Court of Appeals grounded its decision in the language of the Parties' contracts. *Id.* at 12–16.

The Court of Appeals started with Paragraph 1 of the 1955 Agreement and correctly determined that it establishes Grant's core obligation to make Chelan whole for lost hydropower:

Grant agrees to *fully compensate* . . . Chelan . . . *for all loss, damage and expense* which . . . Chelan . . . shall sustain or incur by reason of the construction or operation of [the] Priest Rapids Hydroelectric Development or any part thereof[.]

4CP at 631 (emphases added); Slip op. at 12–13. It reasoned this "unambiguous" obligation to "fully compensate" Chelan requires Grant to return hydropower to Chelan because "by returning undifferentiated power, which has a lower market value, Grant is not fully compensating Chelan for its 'loss, damage, and expense." Slip op. at 12–13. The Court of Appeals observed that the Parties' subsequent conduct supported this interpretation of the contract language. *Id.* at 13 n.2.

Grant claims the Court of Appeals used evidence about current market conditions to interpret the contracts. Pet. for Rev. at 16, 19, 24–27. But Grant misunderstands what the Court of Appeals did. The Court of Appeals merely acknowledged the undisputed reality that undifferentiated power is less valuable

than hydropower⁸ and that, as a result, Grant's proposal to give Chelan unspecified power would not make Chelan whole for lost hydropower. Slip op. at 13. Grant's obligation to "fully compensate" Chelan did not change simply because hydropower became more expensive. Regardless of what was happening in 1955, what is happening today, or what will happen in 2055, Chelan loses hydropower because of Wanapum and Grant must make Chelan whole for that lost hydropower by returning hydropower.

Next, the Court of Appeals turned to Paragraph 2 of the 1955 Agreement and "decline[d] to ignore" its "opening phrase." *Id.* at 14. It rejected Grant's argument that the words "[w]ithout limiting the generality of the foregoing" somehow diminish Grant's "fully compensate" obligation in Paragraph 1. *Id.* In giving full meaning to Paragraph 2, the Court of Appeals noted that "[a]n interpretation of a writing which gives effect to all of its provisions is favored over one which renders some of the language meaningless or ineffective." *Id.* (quoting *Wagner v. Wagner*, 95 Wn.2d 94, 101, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980)). Grant's protestations, *see* Pet. for Rev. at 20–21, do not change the meaning of the words "limiting" and "foregoing." The language

⁸ Grant concedes this fact. Pet. for Rev. at 26 ("It is of course undisputed that hydropower *is currently* more valuable than undifferentiated power." (emphasis in original)).

is plain. It requires Grant to—without limitation—"fully compensate" Chelan for its hydropower losses. The Court of Appeals interpreted the 1955 Agreement correctly.

Finally, the Court of Appeals analyzed the 1974 Agreement. Slip op. at 15. It rejected similar arguments Grant makes now, Pet. for Rev. at 8–9, 21–22, and correctly concluded that neither Section X nor anything else in the 1974 Agreement "alters Grant's obligation to fully compensate Chelan for all loss, damage and expense," Slip op. at 15. The Court of Appeals observed that (1) "nothing in the [1974] agreement requires encroachment power to be hydropower"—it had already correctly concluded the 1955 Agreement requires that—and (2) "nothing in the [1974] agreement permits encroachment power to be undifferentiated power"—a direct rejection of Grant's arguments to the contrary. *Id.* There is nothing remarkable about this conclusion. Indeed, the contracts require hydropower.

In short, there was nothing new or novel about how the Court of Appeals decided this case. It correctly applied the objective manifestation theory consistent with *Berg*, *Hearst*, 9

⁹ Despite Grant's attempts to manufacture one, Pet. for Rev. at 23–25, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *Hearst*. In *Hearst*, this Court refused to read words into a contract that were contrary to the contract's actual language. 154 Wn.2d at 510 ("Hearst essentially asks us to rewrite the JOA by revising

and *International Marine*. This alone is sufficient reason to deny Grant's petition.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Importance

There are several flaws with Grant's assertion that this case involves the interpretation of so-called "legacy contracts" and thus "an issue of substantial public importance." Pet. for Rev. at 27, 30. This Court should also deny review on this ground.

First, Washington law does not recognize the concept of "legacy contracts." Grant fails to provide any citations for its proposition that "legacy contracts" are purportedly "outdated due to changing times or economies." See id. at 28; see also generally id. In essence, Grant wants a windfall because the hydropower it deprives Chelan of is more valuable today than it was in 1955. Regardless of their age, however, contracts are subject to the same settled law on contract interpretation. Cf. Hearst, 154 Wn.2d at 495 ("The law of contracts is the same whether the parties are two publishing giants fighting for market control or

the loss operations clause, something we are not at liberty to do."). Here, the Court of Appeals interpreted the language of the contracts (it did not rewrite anything) and correctly concluded that Grant can only "fully compensate" Chelan under the 1955 Agreement by returning "hydropower for hydropower," and that nothing in the 1974 Agreement "permits encroachment power to be undifferentiated power." Slip op. at 15.

two individuals disputing the cost of appliance repair work."). This Court should reject Grant's attempt to manufacture an issue to escape its make-whole commitment to Chelan.

Second, Grant misapprehends the Court of Appeals' opinion, claiming it "h[eld] that as the industry evolves, old contracts will be interpreted by applying the industry's current understanding of market economics, instead of how parties understood what they were negotiating at the time the contract was executed." Pet. for Rev. at 28. The Court of Appeals made no such holding. It simply evaluated whether Grant's proposal to provide undifferentiated power to Chelan would satisfy Grant's obligation to "fully compensate" Chelan for lost hydropower and correctly determined that, "in the context of this dispute," it would not. Slip op. at 1, 13. The Court of Appeals expressly limited its decision to this specific case. *Id.* at 16. Nothing here warrants review.

Third, Grant broadly claims "[t]he Court of Appeals' Opinion has reverberated throughout the Pacific Northwest's energy industry" and "has direct application to every other industry operating under old contracts." Pet. for Rev. at 29. If this were the case, it is surprising that no party participated as amicus and only one non-party moved to publish. Grant cites nothing

beyond this one motion to publish to support its broad claims.¹⁰ Regardless, Grant agreed to "fully compensate" Chelan for lost hydropower—as that is what Chelan loses and will continue to lose without regard to market conditions. This case is nothing more than a classic contract dispute that the lower courts easily resolved by applying settled precedent. Courts in future cases can apply this same precedent, whether they are interpreting energy or other contracts, new or old.

VII. CONCLUSION

This case is a hornbook example of a contract dispute. It is unfortunate Grant continues to consume judicial resources in its quest to free itself of its obligation to make Chelan whole. If Grant had not built Wanapum, Chelan would produce more hydropower at Rock Island. But Grant built Wanapum and the resulting hydropower losses at Rock Island are what Grant agreed to fully compensate Chelan for in the 1955 Agreement. The Court of Appeals correctly applied settled Washington law

¹⁰ Grant makes several assumptions in relying on this motion to publish. For example, while Public Utility District No. 1 of Pend Orielle County did not identify the date of its contracts, *see generally* Pet. for Rev., App'x B, Grant asserts those contracts were entered into on or around the same time as the contracts at issue here, while providing no support for that assumption, Pet. for Rev. at 27–30.

and concluded that Grant must provide hydropower to Chelan. There is nothing for this Court to review.

For the foregoing reasons, Chelan respectfully asks the Court to deny Grant's petition.

I certify this document contains 4,947 words in compliance with RAP 18.17(b).